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Wednesday, June 29, 2005

     ‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:40 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.  Can you all hear me at the back?  Thank you.


The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB‑2005‑0001, submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for an order or orders approving or fixing rates for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas in the fiscal year 2005.  The Board sits today to consider the motions filed by TransCanada Pipelines, HVAC Coalition, Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, the Industrial Gas Users Association and the Consumers Council of Canada.


These parties each filed a notice of motion on June 27th, 2005, and the motions all concern the sufficiency of Enbridge's responses to interrogatories.


My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the presiding member.  With me are Board Members Paul Sommerville and Cynthia Chaplin.  We will probably be seeing a lot of each other this summer and of you.  


May I have appearances, please, first for the moving parties


APPEARANCES:

MR. WARREN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Robert Warren and I appear for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


MR. DE ROSE:  Good morning.  Vince De Rose, Industrial Gas Users Association.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Rose.  


MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning.  My name is Brian Dingwall.  I appear for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters, as well as the HVAC Coalition Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.


MR. ROSS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Alan Ross, representing TransCanada Pipelines.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  And representing Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. O'LEARY:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Dennis O'Leary, and with me today is my colleague, David Stevens.


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Good morning.  And representing Board Staff?


MR. MILLAR:  Michael Millar, Madam Chair.  With me are Mr. Battista and Mr. Shook.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  May I now have appearances from other parties present?  It would be helpful if you let me know whether or not you're going to plan to make a submission this morning.  


MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Ian Mondrow, Direct Energy, and we are here in response, I suppose, to the motion or the request of HVAC Coalition in respect to the interrogatories they submit have not sufficiently been responded to.


MS. NOWINA:  Will you be in support of that motion?


MR. MONDROW:  We will be in opposition to HVAC's request.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. WILLIAMS:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Chris Williams of the Macleod, Dixon.  We represent the Advocates For Fair and Non-Discriminatory Access, Superior Energy Management, TransAlta Co-Gen and TransAlta Energy Corporation and TransCanada Energy Limited.  We are here today on behalf of TransAlta and on behalf of Superior Energy Management, and we will be supporting the motions brought by TransCanada Pipelines and HVAC.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Williams.


MS. SIMS:  Madam Chair, Margaret Sims, appearing on behalf of Customer Works Limited Partnership.


MS. NOWINA:  You will be making a submission, Ms. Sims?


MS. SIMS:  Yes, in opposition to the HVAC motion and the motion with -- and submissions with respect to the motions on the Interrogatory CCC 192.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Sims.  Anyone else?


MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe.  We're here in support of TransCanada's motion.


MS. NOWINA:  Is that all?  Thank you.  Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, if I may, with your approval, we have reached agreement in respect of several IRs, which you will be pleased to hear will therefore not be the subject or hopefully will not be the subject of much discussion this morning.  If I may, if I could refer the Panel to those particular IR responses and advise you of what our understanding is, in terms of the settlement reached, and then ask the moving party for their comments, would that be satisfactory?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. O'Leary.


MR. O'LEARY:  Starting with the TransCanada interrogatories, the interrogatories that are in dispute are IRs No. 2 and 3, and, frankly, the belief was that the response that the company had made, which was very similar to the rate case last year, would have sufficed, but apparently it wasn't.  


As a result of discussions yesterday with Mr. Ross, we believe an agreement exists that the company will make best efforts to respond to both of those interrogatories.  In respect of Interrogatory No. 3, there's a table that we will make best efforts to complete and identify any footnotes or assumptions, and, similarly, we'll make best efforts to respond to the items identified in Interrogatory No. 2.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  Mr. Ross.


MR. ROSS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Yes, I concur with that, and that is satisfactory to TransCanada Pipelines.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Ross, does that leave any issues outstanding for you?


MR. ROSS:  That does not leave any issues outstanding in our motion, no.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  Was there anything further, Mr. O'Leary?


MR. O'LEARY:  There are, Madam Chair.  There are three interrogatories which were the subject of a motion brought by Mr. Dingwall, representing CME.  They are Interrogatories 8, 60 and 64.  And in respect of interrogatories, starting with the first, Interrogatory No. 8, the company has proposed - and I understand that this is acceptable to CME - that we will provide our best estimate of the new construction volumes that have been included in the 2006 forecast volumes in response to that interrogatory response ‑‑ request, I should say.


In respect of Interrogatory No. 60, we have indicated that the Marbek Resource Consultants report is in its preliminary stages.  There is nothing to produce which would be of assistance at this stage.  There are no internal reports that have been prepared, in terms of determining the degree to which the program, which is the subject of this IR, may or may not be saturated at this point.


So Mr. Dingwall has asked for the company to confirm that that is the situation, and having done that, I believe that that interrogatory has now been responded to satisfactorily.


Finally, at Interrogatory No. 64, the company has agreed to provide CME with a fuller response to the one that has presently been provided on the basis of the understanding that the company does not necessarily accept the recharacterization that CME is trying to place, in terms of the activity that's involved here, but we will respond more fully with a more detailed explanation as to our position.


And I believe that, subject to correction, is what CME is prepared to accept.


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. O'Leary is correct, and that resolves the matters related to the CME motion.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  You will still be speaking to the HVAC?


MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.


MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, we have also, I believe, reached agreement in respect to two of the IGUA interrogatories.  First of all, at Interrogatory No. 44, the company has agreed to make best efforts to expand its answer and respond to the question asked and, in particular, to the question in respect of whether or not cost overruns have been absorbed by the shareholder.


And at IGUA 61, the company had indicated, in its interrogatory response, that it would be prepared to provide a copy of the customer care RFI evaluation document which its consultant had prepared, subject to this Board ruling that it be treated in confidence and not placed on the record.  


And to my understanding, Mr. De Rose is here on behalf of IGUA today would be supportive of that request to the Panel; and on the basis that such a ruling from the Panel is received, we would be prepared to produce that document.  And I do believe, then, that that would satisfy IGUA in respect of that interrogatory.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. De Rose?


MR. DE ROSE:  We agree certainly with respect to number 44.  With respect to number 61, I just want to clarify what we are seeking.  The reference is to the evaluation document prepared by the contractor.  We don't know what the evaluation document looks like.  What we are interested in finding out is who the RFIs were sent to and who responded, and then how they responded.


Mr. O'Leary has indicated to me that the evaluation document that they are prepared to produce will provide us with that information.  Assuming that is correct, then we're fine with that.


In terms of the confidential nature, we are in agreement at this point that it should be treated confidentiality.  We -- if it is necessary to put before the Board, we would be seeking some sort of an in-camera hearing, or further direction from the Board on how that information should be put forth.   

     The other issue I would just raise is that, if it is produced confidentially, I would assume that, if any intervenor would wish to bring a motion before the Board to try and make some component of it public - if they felt that it wasn't confidential in nature - they would be free to do so.  But that, I think, is -- we would be anticipating something that may or may not happen in the future.  I don’t think I -- we certainly cannot bind the hands of other people bringing that type of motion. 

     But at this stage, we're in agreement, it should be confidential.  And we will deal with how to -- the mechanics of it throughout the hearing.  

     MS. NOWINA:  I think on this one I’ll ask for submissions from other parties, if they have any, on this issue of confidentiality.  

     MR. WILLIAMS:  Madame Chair, just with respect to this document, or, generally, with respect to -- the reason I ask the question is that two of the interrogatories to which we're seeking responses deal with this issue of confidentiality of documents.  I have nothing to add with respect to Mr. DeRose's submission on that particular one, but I intend to deal generically with that issue,  later on.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  

     Mr. O'Leary, you’re going to make specific recommendations about how to handle the confidentiality of that document.  I guess the first question I have, is there any way that the document could be submitted as a public document, but redacted? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Sorry, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:   That’s all right.

     MR. O’LEARY:  I am advised that the company did reconsider redacting the document, but that, to redact it sufficiently so that it would not become self-evident to others that saw the document, including competing bidders, or others that didn't bid that may ultimately want to participate in the subsequent process -- that to redact to that extent would make the production utterly useless to intervenors and to the Panel, and, thus, that was discounted.  

     In terms of the mechanics of how we would deal with the confidentiality, obviously, parties are at liberty to bring whatever motion they see fit, and we’ll deal with that, accordingly, throughout.  But I would hope that, if this Panel were to rule that, given the need to maintain the integrity of the competitive process, that certain documents of this nature should be subject to limitations, in terms of them being included in the public record, that parties would think twice before they would bring such a motion.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Thank you, Mr. O'Leary.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  One additional submission, Madam Chair, and that is in response to Mr. DeRose’s request -- or enquiry as to whether or not the document we’re proposing to produce in confidentiality, responds to the three items he identified.  And I understand that, if the document -- I understand that it does indicate who responded and gives the nature of the responses given.  But if it does not identify to whom the RFI was forwarded, we will produce that, as well.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That's satisfactory, Mr. DeRose? 

     MR. DEROSE:  Absolutely.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Do you have any other settled issues, Mr. O'Leary? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  The only other issue that I would raise at this time, Madam Chair, would be in relation to -- there’s a series of IGUA Interrogatories, 51, 59 and 96.  And I understand that CCC Interrogatory 192 is, in fact, identical to the IGUA Interrogatory 96.  There has been a response to both Interrogatory 192 from CCC and the IGUA 96, which Mr. Warren responded to.  And our understanding is that that, at least today, will not be the subject of any further motion submissions.  But I would defer to Mr. Warren to confirm that that’s -- our understanding is correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, Madam Chair, our notice of motion indicated that our interrogatories -- that my client’s Interrogatories 190 and 192 had not been responded to.  And I suppose, implicit in that was our reserving our right, once they were responded to, to argue about the sufficiency of the response. 

     Both have now been responded to, and I am instructed that both are sufficient.  So the fifth of our prayers for relief in our motion are no longer relevant, and I concur with Mr. O'Leary's submission on that point.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  That's the extent of what we've been able to achieve to this point.  

     MS. NOWINA:  That's wonderful, Mr. O'Leary.  

Any other preliminary matters? 

     MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I just might address, very broadly, scheduling.  I'm obviously not clear how long this proceeding will take.  I've advised Board Staff and my colleagues from Enbridge and Mr. Dingwall - I apologize, I neglected to talk to Mr. Warren, and I apologized to him before commencing - but I can only be here to noon today.  So, if possible, I’d appreciate if the Panel could oblige and have the HVAC request dealt with sometime prior to noon, so that I might be here to respond to it.   That would be appreciated, if possible.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  

     I was just going to ask Mr. Millar if he had an order that he thought we should proceed in 

     MR. MILLAR:  I have had some discussions with my friends amongst the intervenors and Mr. O’Leary.  I don't think we have a set list of who exactly will go in what order, but we do wish to accommodate Mr. Mondrow.  And I spoke to Mr. Dingwall:  he's happy to go with this morning.  I’ve also spoken with Mr. Warren, and I think Mr. DeRose, and Mr. Ross, it looks like, is largely finished now.  So we're still somewhat in the hands of the parties, but I don't think we will have any difficulty accommodating everybody's needs this morning.  

     There had been a suggestion that Mr. Warren go first, and I'm not sure if that is still on the table. 

     MR. WARREN:  That's fine with me.  I’ve indicated to Mr. Dingwall, and, just now, to Mr. Mondrow, that I don't expect to be more than 10 minutes, at the outside of my submissions, and probably less than that.  I can't control -- as much as I would like to, I can't control Mr. O'Leary, but he is, characteristically, admirably succinct, so I suspect we will be able to get done with me pretty quickly. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

     Maybe we will go with Mr. Warren first, then, and then to you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     MR. DEROSE:  I was simply going to say, Madam Chairperson, that I fall into a similar boat as Mr. Warren.  I expect to only be 10 to 15 minutes as well.  I would simply raise this -- as I understand it, the HVAC motion will likely be the long issue of the morning.   It's going to be -- I expect more than one party will be responding to it.  And I'm wondering if it would be expedient to have both myself and Mr. Warren out of the way before the HVAC motion proceeds.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, Mr. Mondrow, is that fine with you? 

     MR. MONDROW:  From my perspective, that’s fine.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's fine, as well.  I’ve had similar conversations with Mr. De Rose and Mr. Warren this morning, who have assured me that their verbosity is quite limited today.  I believe that there’s a significant understanding among all the parties in the room that the air-conditioning in the building breaks down around noon, so we all have that same goal.  

     MS. NOWINA:  All right. 

     And Mr. Ross, just to confirm, you will not be making a presentation? 

     MR. ROSS:  I will not be making any further submissions on the HVAC matter, or anything else.  I'm satisfied that the TransCanada pipeline motion is -- has been taken care of. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Ross.  

     All right.  Mr. Warren?  

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, if the Panel could turn up our notice of motion, please.  There are now five remaining interrogatory responses which, we submit, are insufficient.  

     And I’d like to deal, if I can, with three of them as a cluster.  And if you look at our notice of motion, they would be 4(a), which is Interrogatory Response 137, and 4(d) which are Interrogatory Responses 176 and 177.  Both of the ‑‑ all of those interrogatories request the responses to certain request for information, RFIs, that were issued in relation to the so-called envisioned project, and both ‑‑ sorry, all of the questions asked for copies of responses that were received.  And for all of them, the response was that the ‑‑ I'm sorry, the response from Enbridge was that the responses were subject to confidentiality agreements with the people who were responding.


It is our submission that getting those interrogatory ‑‑ sorry, getting the RFI responses is relevant to and necessary for an understanding of the adequacy, particularly of the benchmark analysis which underlies the envisioned project.  And, therefore, they are relevant to our client's assessment of the prudency of the envisioned proposal.


In our respectful submission, those responses being relevant cannot be kept confidential by virtue of a commercial agreement between Enbridge and the folks who were responding to it.  It is interesting that in ‑‑ it is relevant, more than interesting, in the case of the request for information forms, both of them contained provisions that the responses would be subject to regulatory scrutiny.


And in our respectful submission, that was the appropriate caveat to put into the RFIs and that the Board should direct that they be produced.


I have indicated in the motion, and I will repeat again on the record this morning, that our client understands that they may be subject to the appropriate confidentiality constraints, but they should be produced with whatever constraints that the Board deems necessary and appropriate in the circumstances.


So with respect to 137, 176 and 177, it is our submission that they should be produced because they are relevant, subject to whatever confidentiality constraints the Board wishes to impose.


The third, then, of the requests is marked as 4(b) in our notice of motion, and that is my client's Interrogatory No. 145.  Now, in this interrogatory response -- sorry, in the interrogatory, my client asked the question how EGD and the Board and the intervenors would be able to track the benefits of the company CIS system in the future and asked that the benefits utilization plan be filed.  


The response, which I will read, was as follows:

"Business case supporting the company's customer information system plan references several categories of benefits that will stem from the implementation of this plan and the replacement of the legacy CIS in 2008.  Benefits will come about through reductions in CIS service charges, anticipated reductions and customer care service charges and other avoided costs.  The company anticipates that the Board will continue to review and approve its rate applications, which are expected to include customer care costs that are influenced by the CIS and the intervenors will have the opportunity to participate in these proceedings."


I would characterize that, as generously as I can, as a non‑response.  It doesn't say how it is that the benefits ‑‑ it's a narrow and focussed question:  How are the benefits going to be tracked?  And the response essentially says is that certain cost issues will be considered in future hearings and they anticipate that intervenors will participate in those proceedings.  It doesn't answer the question.  


More particularly, the benefits realization plan wasn't filed, and there is no reference to it at all.


Now, the assessment of the prudency of the CIS proposal writ large necessarily requires an assessment of what the benefits will be and how those will be tracked over the course of a 12‑year agreement.  So the information is material to our, writ large, intervenors and certainly our client's ability to assess the prudency of that, and, therefore, it is relevant and material to the proceeding.  In our submission, it is necessary for the board, as well, to assess the prudency of CIS, and so we think it necessary and appropriate that an answer be given.


The final question is item 4 ‑‑ sorry, item 4(c), and that is interrogatory -- our Interrogatory No. 138.  This interrogatory, one from time to time - hopefully, rarely - reads the question one asks and concludes it was not particularly felicitously worded, and this falls into this category.  


The question was:  

"Please confirm the leading third generation CIS software packages will handle new requirements, such as GDAR billing, unbundled rates, bill re-design and Internet-based customer self service, assuming the need for these new requirements and the availability of new CIS package configurability..."


A word which I hope doesn't exist:

"... provide all meeting notes, analysis and a high- level cost estimate obtained through the CIS RFI process."


We were looking for, in that question -- I concede it was not felicitously worded - what measures the EGD contemplated to allow the CIS to adopt two changes that were inevitably going to take place, predictably going to take place over the course of a 12-year agreement, and we wanted the notes and analysis and cost estimates with respect to those next generation, further generation software adaptations.  


The answer we got was as follows:

"The company confirms the CIS applications that are under consideration are much better equipped to accommodate expected future requirements, such as GDAR billing, unbundled rates, bill re-design and Internet-based customer self service.  For further information, please see the responses to the following interrogatories..."


And then six interrogatory responses are given.  The answer doesn't tell us how it is that the new requirements will be met, and, more particularly, it doesn't provide us with the meeting notes, analysis and cost estimates that are relevant to that configurability.


All of this requested information is necessary for my client and its expert to assess the viability, the cost, and therefore the prudence of the CIS proposal, which is a proposal for a 12- year agreement.  And, therefore, the information is both relevant and material to an issue, an important issue, in this case, and we ask that the answer be given, or, rather, a further and better answer be given.


Those are my submissions on the outstanding interrogatories, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  Mr. O'Leary.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O'LEARY:

MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I hope to be similarly succinct, but doubt I will be as successful as Mr. Warren.  I propose to deal with the interrogatories in issue in a separate fashion, starting with CCC 137, which is the request for copies of the seven RFI responses.  


Madam Chair, I should point out at the outset that my friend did advise the Panel that there is a provision in the RFI request document, which was actually produced in evidence, to the fact that some of these documents may be subject to regulatory review, and a response to that right at the outset, it should be understood that, first of all, not each of the ‑‑ it's my understanding not each of the seven respondents agreed to that term and that the respondents were ‑‑ have, in varying measures, responded indicating that that was or was not acceptable.  


It's my understanding that each is not in agreement that the documents be filed as part of the public record, and that that clause is included in the initial document, at best, to simply flag to the potential successful bidder that at the end of the day, when the prudency consideration by the Board is actually going to be undertaken - not at this stage, but at the end of the day - that that document then may be the subject of some review as part of the prudency consideration by the Board.


It's important, Madam Chair, for the Panel to understand that the documents that have been requested here are preliminary.  It's a request for information.  This is not the end result.  These are the first round of ‑‑ it is the first round of what is hopefully, and will remain, a competitive bidding process.

In fact, the seven responding parties did not make any commitments as to price.  That would be something that would be relevant at the prudency stage, but, therefore, it is not something that can be raised and is of any evidentiary value to this Panel at this time.  It would be, in my respectful submission, commercially irresponsible for the documents to be released - and you will hear a bit of this on other interrogatory submissions that I make today - in that, to allow competing responding parties now in the RFI stage, and for the purposes of participating in a RFP stage, later on, to know what others have said, their competitors, to know the __ any details about how they've structured their responses, the different bidding strategies that the various submitting parties have made, would compromise the competitive-bidding process.   The company submits that’s not in, certainly, the company's interests, and not in the intervenor's interests, as well, for the -- with the purpose of attempting to gain the most commercially-acceptable result.  

     And specifically, I would identify for the record that, in the evidence filed by the company, at A6, tab 2, schedule 4, that the company does indicate that there was a varied response by the seven submitting parties using various tendering strategies, which can only be interpreted as indicating there should be a great deal of caution exercised in relying upon any of the details that are contained in these RFI responses 

     This is not the stage -- these are not the documents upon which any detailed assumptions or beliefs should be drawn.  The bottom line is that there is no real evidentiary value in the production of these documents at this stage to both CCC and other intervenors, and, most importantly, to the Panel.  

     Madam Chair, if I may then move on to CCC 138.  As we initially understood the request from CCC - and one of the areas of great concern which is related to the submissions I just made in respect of 137 - the Interrogatory, as posed, if I could take you to it, was to provide all meeting notes, analysis and a high-level cost estimate obtained through the CIS RFI process.  And our interpretation of that was that what CCC was asking for was precisely what is said in the request, is, particularly, a high-level cost estimate.  

     Well, again, I come back to the impact on the competitive-bidding process, that, if the notes and the comments that the company makes internally in respect of the process are produced for the public record, then we have absolutely no hope that there will be anything close to a competitive-bidding process that's going to be followed in the future.  To give perspective bidders our high-level cost estimate is to invite them to simply do something slightly below that.  But it's going to be significantly more than what the company would expect in a true competitive process.       

I should add that, in respect of and in support of the company, it's the company's submission there has been a full and complete response, that the -- at the 6 bullets which are identified in the response, these include a substantial amount of material, including - and I won't go through it all - but the requirements and configuration which is the -- in response to Board Staff 98, at CCC 137, we've produced the MYCON CIS RFI request.  At School 37, we included analysis of various items, cost estimates, et cetera.  So the company believes that it has been more than responsive to this Interrogatory, but that to go further, and to now provide meeting notes and a high-level cost estimate would, as we've submitted, compromise its future ability to negotiate a reasonable term in respect of the project.  

     Turning next to Interrogatory 145, Madam Chair.  The company, in its response -- and this is the Interrogatory, Madam Chair, that my friend described as being “non-responsive”, that is, the company's response.  And in brief, our response to that is that it is completely responsive.  The company referred CCC back to the benefits-realization assumptions that have been made in the evidence.  If you look at the evidence, you will see the company has included a detailed business plan.  It has also included a cost-benefits analysis.  And it should be realized that the CIS replacement will not take place until January 1st, 2008.  So it should come as no surprise that there is no formal benefits-realization plan which is capable of being produced.  

     So, number 1, there isn't a document that we could produce in response to that.  And the company believes that it has made a strong case to continue down the road for the ultimate approval to CIS replacement program, and that it has, and will, update its cost-benefit analysis, once it has received the additional information and cost, that would be quantified by the successful bidders on the project.  

     Finally, Madam Chair, I’ll deal with CCC 176 and 177 together.  And the request here, as Mr. Warren indicated earlier, is for the production of further RFI responses.  And without belabouring the point, I will simply reiterate my earlier concerns expressed about -- particularly, in respect of such preliminary documents, that, A, they have little or no evidentiary value to the Panel, and secondly, and most importantly to everyone involved, is that to produce those in a public forum would tend to undermine the future bidding process which is anticipated and which will follow.  

     Madam Chair, subject to any questions, those are our submissions.     

     MS. NOWINA:   Thank you.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. O'Leary, I'm just wondering what Enbridge's views are with respect to Mr. Warren's proposal that those three answers, 176, 177 and 137, are filed, subject to confidentiality constraints.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  As I indicated earlier, Ms. Chaplin, in respect of the seven RFI responses, there are different degrees of acceptability by each of the submitting parties as to whether or not they agree to it.  

     My understanding is that there is a non-disclosure agreement in effect, which would obligate the company to oppose production of it.  In the event that the Panel was to order production of the productions sought at 176 and 177, the company would similarly request that they be subject to the same order in respect to confidentiality, and it not being placed on the public record, so we don't compromise the bidding process. 

     But I reiterate my submission that, is there really any evidentiary value in a document that is not going to be of any benefit, in terms of forecasting the cost that will ultimately be considered by this Panel -- or a subsequent Panel, I should say, in another proceeding?  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary, just to clarify for me, the -- for Interrogatory 167 and 177, I believe it addresses the envisioned RFP responses as opposed to RFI responses?  And --  first, am I correct in thinking that? 

     And secondly, if that is true, do you view those as the same kind of preliminary documents that you would view RFI responses? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes, Madam Chair, you're correct.  I misspoke myself, and I relied on my friend's description of them in his argument, and picked up on that.  And we reiterate the same concerns about the actual impact on the competitive process, in that, if there is production - even at the RFP stage - on the public record of such documents, it is going to act as a disincentive for bidders in the future to make bids, in that they will then believe that their bids will become part of the public record and made available to the company's competitors, other utilities, and the pricing structure and their bidding strategies will then become well-known.  

     So that it, from the bidder's perspective, will tend to discourage their involvement.  And that would be negative from the company's perspective, in that we will not then see the same degree of competitive activity in respect to various projects that we're looking for assistance.  And where that ends up is that we believe that we would not be receiving the best price from these bidders as a result of what they see is this regulatory oversight which they would prefer to avoid.


MS. NOWINA:  I understand the point, Mr. O'Leary, but in terms of the envisioned RFP, that process is complete, is it not?


MR. O'LEARY:  It is a step further, that's acknowledged, Madam Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Thanks very much.  Ms. Sims, were you going to make any submissions on this topic?


MS. SIMS:  Not on this issue.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, do you have any submissions?


MR. MILLAR:  No submissions, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren, any reply?


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WARREN:

MR. WARREN:  Very briefly, Madam Chair.  First of all, with respect to CCC Interrogatory 145, I am obliged to my friend for having this morning provided a response, which is that there is no benefits realization plan, and if that had been said in the response, then I wouldn't be here wasting your time about that.  So I am obliged to my friend for that.


With respect to all of the remaining ones - that is, the 137, 176, 177 and 145 - my friend's responses really amount to this:  First of all, that the bidding parties, the responders to the RFI and the RFP, are concerned about confidentiality.  The Board has -- if you will excuse an expression teenagers overuse, we've been there and we've done that.  We've heard that argument about prejudice to the commercial bidding process in the context of production of documents again and again and again, and it would be helpful if we received any indication that any commercial process had ever been prejudiced as a result of the production of the documents, subject to confidentiality constraints.


And I've never heard any of that evidence.  I don't know whether the Board has heard it, but in none of the proceedings involving Enbridge Gas Distribution over many years, and proceedings in which this has been a topic again and again and again, we've never had any actual indication that a bidding process or individual responder has ever been prejudiced.


I think it reasonable for the Board to conclude that the confidentiality constraints work, and, in the absence of any evidence, the presumption should be that those confidentiality constraints work.


The second thing, as I say, with great respect to my friend, he should not be the arbiter of whether or not evidence is relevant.  That is for the Board to decide and we can only decide that ‑‑ the Board can only decide that after we have seen the evidence, we've had a chance to analyze it and make submissions on it.  Prima facie, prima facie, the evidence is relevant to an understanding of the CIS-envisioned project, not just the price, but to the prudency of that, of the arrangements, and whether they are premature or not are matters for us to decide after we have seen the evidence.  


So, with respect, it is inappropriate for my friend to argue that, to submit that the evidence is relevant.  It may well be relevant.  I say prima facie it is, and in those circumstances it should be produced so that we have an opportunity to assess it.


The final and related matter, Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, is my friend argues that it would be commercially irresponsible to release the documents because of this potential prejudice to the process.


The offsetting principle is that not producing these kinds of documents constrains the regulatory process, because it precludes, effectively, a public review, a full public analysis of the prudency of documents ‑‑ prudency of arrangements that have a material impact on the rates which ratepayers pay for services.  


Now, there is a balance.  There is a tension,

and where there is a tension between a claim for commercial confidentiality on the one hand and the need for full public disclosure and review, the balance should be tipped in favour of the latter, which is the full public review.  And we have protections, protections in the form of confidentiality agreements, confidentiality provisions.


In our respectful submission, in the absence of any evidence that there has ever been any harm fall to anybody as a result of production of these documents, the bias of the Board could be to order their production subject to the appropriate constraints.  Those are my responding submissions, thank you,


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

     Mr. DeRose.

     SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DEROSE:
     MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.  Madam Chairperson, Members of the Board, you will have received our notice by letter from Mr. Thompson dated June 27th, 2005, and you will see in that letter that we initially were seeking eight or we were taking issue with eight interrogatories.  That has now been reduced to three, numbers 6, 11 and 28.  Those are the only three that I will be addressing today.


Just to close the loop on this, you have already heard from Mr. O'Leary and myself this morning with respect to Interrogatories No. 44 and No. 61.  And with respect to 51, 59 and 96, all three of those interrogatories related to CCC No. 192.  In the sense that our questions were encompassed by CCC No. 192, EGD answered those questions by reference to CCC No. 192, which was produced just recently, and so we will not be seeking any relief with respect to those three today.


So with your permission, I will turn to Interrogatory No. 6.  I can indicate this will be the longest of the three, in terms of my submissions.  The other two are calculations and I think they will be dealt with very quickly.


What we are seeking with respect to Interrogatory No. 6 are four types or bundles of documents or information.  Number 1, we are looking for the corporate budget for 2005.  Number 2, we are requesting production of the relevant excerpts from minutes of the board of directors pertaining to the approval of the corporate budget.  


Number 3 relates to a reference in -- in the company's answer to Interrogatory No. 6(b) -- page 2 of 2, this is Exhibit 1, tab 11, schedule 6, page 2 of 2.  You don't need to turn it up.  The company writes as follows:

"The directors were informed of the settlement amount..."


This is referring to the O&M budget which was board approved that came out of the settlement for 2005:

"... through two weekly reports and a memo sent out by Jim Schultz."  


Those two documents have not been produced and those are the last two, so we will ‑‑ are also asking for the production of the two weekly reports referenced in (b) and the memo sent out by Mr. Schultz referenced in (b).  


So those are the four items that we're looking for, and let me just narrow it down right off the bat.  Number 1, with respect to the minutes of the board of directors, we are not looking for the entire minutes of the board of directors for the entire year.  We are only looking for the relevant portions.  They can be redacted.


Number 2, if any or all of the information we are seeking, if EGD feels that it requires protections, in terms of confidentiality, those are available.  In the past ‑ and IGUA continues to feel this way ‑ as much information as possible should be put on the public record, but, in our submission, the fact that there ‑‑ if there is confidential information contained in any of the items which we're seeking, that is not a reason to refuse production.  It's a matter of determining the proper mechanics for producing it on a confidential basis, and, in this regard, it can either be produced in a redacted form for the public record, or, alternatively, once parties have received the documents on a confidential basis, and have reviewed the documents and have identified what information they would like to put on the public record, the Board can then make its determination.  

     So I simply put that out there, that, if there is confidential information in those documents, EGD can address that.  

     Now, in terms of the relevance, in our submission to understand the presence -- the present situation, and the current budget which Enbridge is seeking, we have to understand where they came from.  And, in particular, we are interested to see the extent to which the corporate budget differs from the Board-approved budget.  Now the Board-approved budget was $285 -- I think it was 286.5 million, and that came through a settlement.  And, if it turns out that in the corporate budget that was either ignored or dismissed, that is relevant.  It's relevant in assessing the causes for the substantial increase in the current estimates in this case.  

     Now I can tell you what we would expect to see.  We would expect to see that the corporate budget be very similar -- at least, the component with respect to EGD should be very similar to the Board-approved budget.  We don't know that, and we're entitled to see that, in our submission.  

     Further, if there is no correlation, or there is a difference, in our submission that is relevant, and we would be entitled to know why.  Again, we are not able to determine that until we see the corporate budget.  

     So, with respect to the corporate budget and the minutes of the directors, it boils down to this, in our submission:  in 2005, there was an O&M budget of $286.5 million.  We should be entitled to review whether the board of directors were informed of that budget, how they were informed of that budget, whether they incorporated that budget into the corporate budget and, if they did not, why not.  

     With respect to the other two -- the last two items which are referred to in sub (b), these are the two weekly reports and the memo sent out by Mr. Schultz.  We’d simply say: Clearly, those documents exist, and they are relevant.  

     So I would close on this point by saying this:  one of the items in assessing the reasonableness of the current budget sought - which is substantially increased from 2005 - is, where is the point of departure?  Is the point of departure the Board-approved budget?  Or is it something else? 

     And those are my submissions on Interrogatory Number 6.            

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.  

     MR. DEROSE:  I would turn to -- unless you would like to ask me questions on Number 6, I will turn to the last two, and then, perhaps, take questions. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Actually, I would like to ask a question on that one --

     MR. DEROSE:  That's fine. 

     MS. NOWINA:  --  while we're on it. 

     So the Board-approved -- the Board -- the budget that you're looking for is the EGDI budget that was approved by the board of directors of EGDI.  Is that what you're looking for, or are you looking for the entire budget for the corporation? 

     MR. DEROSE:  The entire budget.     

     MS. NOWINA:  May I ask why you need the budget of the entire corporation, as opposed to just the EGDI budget? 

     MR. DEROSE:  Well, quite frankly, I think we would -- we could have -- or, if the company were to just provide us with the EGD component of that budget, just to see how it was listed in the corporate budget, we would be content with that.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Please continue.  

     MR. DEROSE:  So then I will turn to Interrogatory Number 11, and I said Interrogatory Number 11 would be short.  

     What we were seeking in Interrogatory Number 11 was for EGD to perform the calculation to determine what the ROE was for, no. 1, the 12 months ending September 30th, 2004.  That is in the record.  But secondly, the 15 months ending December 31st, 2004.  And I'm not going to go into a great deal of detail.  You will require (sic) that in 2005 what has come to be referred to as “the stub year.”  We didn't come out of the blue with this 15-month, as opposed to 12-month.  It has a history to it.  And, in our submission, given the fact that last year was a stub year, it would be appropriate for that calculation to be done and provided to us.  

     We know that the company has the information with respect to the equity as of October 1, 2005 -- we -- sorry, 2004.  We know that the ROE has been calculated as of December 31st, 2004.  And we also know, as a result of statements in Enbridge Inc., that it was calculated on a 15-month basis.  So the calculation can be done.   This isn't a matter of not being able to do the calculation.  

     And the reason why we believe this is relevant is to provide the context of the case, and to show the extent to which Enbridge Inc. has used the utility to enhance its returns.  And, in our submission, it is appropriate, given the context of what happened last year, to have the ROE calculated on the 15-month basis.  

     Finally, I will turn to Interrogatory Number 28.  Now, Interrogatory Number 28 -- there were a number of questions asked, and what -- the component that we take issue with in the response is referred to in sub (e).  And this is Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 28, page 2 of 3.  

     And what we were asking for was the calculation to show the extent to which the delivery-related revenue deficiency for 2006 would be reduced if the short-term debt component of the utility capital structure was increased from 57.2 million to 800 million.   And to provide the context on the 800 million, this is the stand-by credit which the company is seeking.  And our expectation is that, if the $800 million stand -- which is being treated as a standby credit, were brought into capital structure and were -- was treated as short-term debt, that this would result in a reduction in the cost of capital.  That’s our expectation, and we simply want the calculation done.  

     In sub (e), the company "declines to attempt to provide a response to this proposal, as it is not practical or economical." 

     In our submission, it would be appropriate for them to attempt, at the very least, to do this calculation.  If they are unable to do it, they should provide an explanation as to why they cannot do it.  And whether the number, at the end of the day, is or is not relevant, or whether the Board does or does not put any weight on that number, is a matter of argument for the hearing.  

     In our submission, at this stage, the calculation should be completed.  We should have the number to see how it would affect the cost of capital, if at all.  And whether it is or is not something that the Board should accept is a matter of argument, and that should be dealt with in the hearing 

     Subject to any questions, those are IGUA's submissions this morning.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. O'Leary? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

SUBMISSIONS BY MR. O’LEARY: 

     MR. O'LEARY:  I will deal with the several interrogatories in issue in the order that Mr. DeRose dealt with them, the first being Interrogatory Number 6.  And subparagraph (b), which is the request that the company provide the reports and a memo from Mr. Schultz, which are identified in the response by the company to subparagraph (b), and my friend alluded to the fact that they might be prepared to accept it in confidential ‑- in confidentiality and subject to it not being placed in the public record, but, Madam Chair, that simply is not satisfactory to the company.  


The issue that is of importance here goes to the heart of the company's ability to communicate internally, particularly at the senior levels.  We're talking about correspondence between the president of the corporation and its senior management.  


To order the production of such documents would effectively curtail reasonable communications and dissemination of thoughts and comments and opinions in respect of the subject matters which are contained in those documents, and would compromise the ability of the company to govern itself effectively.


It's our respectful submission that it's a tired expression, I agree, Madam Chair, but this amounts to nothing short of a fishing expedition and that if an attempt was made to redact these documents, you would have a meaningless document, because it wouldn't identify who was saying what, what it's referring to, and many other matters that I'm sure my friend would like to allege that there is something that is of value to the panel when there is not.


These are the types of documents which need to be protected, and for the purposes of determining whether the forecast costs that you're being asked to consider in 2006 have any connection with comments made in respect of something that occurred much earlier, we respectfully submit there has been no argument my friend has made which supports the production of those documents.


The second area that my friend is looking for additional response from the company, the company's response in (c) and (d) of Interrogatory No. 6.  It relates to the production of both the minutes of the board of directors, and, in that regard, many of the comments I made in terms of the internal communications for the company also apply, in that the board of directors must be and has to be in a position where it can communicate within itself effectively, without fear that the comments by one director would be the subject of review and consideration and perhaps some wishful thinking as to what they meant in some subsequent regulatory proceeding.


It's our respectful submission that those minutes, as a matter of relevance, need not be produced, in that the capital budget of the corporation is not the approved budget.  It is something that, in the evidence, in the response that the company made, it is something different than the regulatory budget.


I remind the Panel that for the purposes of this proceeding, if we look at the evidence, what we have is the budget which was approved by the panel which heard the company's fiscal 2005 case.  What we have included -- what the company has included in the evidence is a forecast of what its costs actually will be in calendar 2005.  The company has also attempted to include a forecast as of September 30th, 2005.


We have also provided detailed evidence as to its capital, anticipated capital expenditures and its anticipated O&M expenditures in 2006, and those are the ‑‑ and that is the evidence that we submit is relevant for the purposes of you considering the company's application.


If I could take you to the letter that IGUA produced in support of the request today for further response, on page 1.  This is their June 27th letter.  I won't take you to more than one sentence in it, but IGUA states in the third paragraph on page 1:   

"The extent to which EGD's corporate budget differs from the Board-approved budget for the utility is the relevance in assessing the causes for the level of spending estimates for 2005."


It's our respectful submission that there is nothing in the corporate budget nor in the minutes which could in any way speak to the drivers of the costs that are being sought and forecast for 2006.  That evidence is in the pre-filed evidence and in the company's responses to the interrogatories.


My friend has indicated that he expects the regulatory budget to align somewhat with the corporate budget.  As I have indicated, first of all, they're not the same, so they're not directly comparable, but I ‑‑ the company submits that if, in fact, the company was to come forward and say, We have spent more than the regulatory budget, that IGUA would be one of the first parties to commence howling if there was any request made for a subsequent recovery of those over-expenditures.


The Panel has not required the production of ‑‑ the Board has not required the production of the corporate budget as a necessity for the approval of a fiscal year's forecast cost-of-service rates.  We respectfully submit that is not necessary in this proceeding, either.


Turning to IGUA 11, which my friend characterized as somewhat -- in somewhat limited fashion as simply being a mathematical exercise, our position on that, in brief, is that it involves far more than a simple mathematical calculation.


I am actually speaking in respect of IGUA 28.  I jumped ahead.  My apologies.  Let's deal with that one, first of all.


IGUA 28 is the request that the company undertake a restructuring and calculate the implications of it, the restructuring of its capital structure.  If I may use the expression "the devil is in detail" in terms of the question that is asked here.  If we look at the question actually asked by IGUA, it is -- they want to know the impact on the revenue deficiency where you have increased the short-term debt from $57.2 million to $800 million.  


Then it goes on to state, and this is an important point, that the other components of the capital structure are then adjusted accordingly.  Well, it's the adjusted accordingly that takes us to the nub of the concern that the company has in this regard.


It has to be understood that the capital structure of the company has been the subject of prior approvals by panels in the past and that if you are going to increase from 57.2 million to 800 million, the short-term component of the capital structure, it necessarily means you have to undertake a similar corresponding change to other aspects of the capital structure.


The only practical place where that could occur would be in terms of the long‑term debt that the company presently has, and our position is that it would be nothing short of completely irresponsible to even consider undertaking such an exercise.


Our submissions in support of that are as follows:  First, as the short‑term facilities intended to respond to the vicissitudes of the nature of the business and its cyclical requirements, and you will note from the evidence that in fact the short-term facility is used in a range of between 51 million and $750 million, that if you were going to use the short-term facility to replace the long-term facility, you're not talking about simply increasing it to 800 million.  You still need to have that flexibility and cash flow capability when required. 


You then need the 800 million, plus the ability to respond to the cash flow requirements.  You were talking about having a short-term facility which is well in excess of $1 billion.


So the first question, which creates one of the uncertainties and the difficulty responding with any precision, is that we don't know what that number would necessarily have to be.  


Secondly, if you're going out into the markets and all of a sudden looking for that kind of facility, that is going to have an actual tendency to increase the actual rates that the company will see in terms of trying to satisfy its short-term needs.


To retire the long-term debt notes prematurely, the costs of that we estimate would be staggering.  The impact of doing that -- again, that's the only way to balance out the capital structure.  The impact of that would be to have a negative impact on the company's risk profile.


First of all, you put the company at risk of the fact that rather than relying on $800 million of long-term notes  which have a rate which is in place for a longer term, you're relying on the short-term rate which, as we all know, is subject to, in some years, significant fluctuations.  Given that the costs of the company are set on a forecast basis, if there is a change in rates which has not been forecast, the company is at risk of not recovering those costs.  That is something that will be considered by investors and the company's risk profile will, therefore, be considered in a negative light.  

     The credibility of the company, in that it is being required to retire long-term debt prematurely, will be negatively affected.   It's reputation will be somewhat eroded.  It's submitted that that would result in the company incurring even higher costs, in terms of being unable to negotiate as favourable a rate securing medium and long-term financing in the future.  

     The result of these impacts are that any response to this - aside from the fact that we consider the whole concept of it to be irresponsible - is that there is such a degree of uncertainty, and that any response which the company was to make - which would necessarily have to attach to any calculations we do -- any response would have to be replete with a long list of qualifications and assumptions and “we're not sures” -- that, it is submitted, it would be of no benefit to this Panel, nor to intervenors in this proceeding.  

     Madam Chair, if I may now return to IGUA 11, which, I might note that -- Mr. Sommerville, I believe you’ve heard some of this argument previously.  And it's company's position that this relates to what is, described briefly, the real purpose behind IGUA's request here, and that is to make an argument, in this proceeding, that some calculation over 15 months should somehow be considered by this Panel for the purposes of concluding that the company has over-recovered, relative to a Board-approved 12-month ROE 

     Well, that’s precisely the issue that arose in the proceeding last year, in RP 2003-0203.  While the justification is given by IGUA a little differently in this proceeding, it's our respectful submission that the purpose behind the request is identical to that which occurred before, and should similarly be rejected by this Panel, for the following reasons.  

     First of all, as the Board identified in its decision at paragraph 6.3.14 - and I will take you to that in a moment - there is no approved 15_month ROE methodology.  If I may read the paragraph from the Board's decision in the 2003-0203 decision, the Board stated that: 

“With respect to the merits of considering cost-of-service calculations to create rates for the stub period” - which is the three-month period, and the argument was to add the three to the earlier 12 - “the intervenors failed to negate the company's argument that it would be very difficult and inappropriate in the circumstances of the company's seasonally-sensitive operations to attempt to impose a ROE on anything less than a 12-month consecutive basis.  The Board agrees that an entirely different approach to calculating ROE would have to be considered before it would be appropriate to apply the Board-approved ROE to any period other than consecutive 12 months.”  

     And the reason why we submit that the Board made that conclusion is that there is no approved fifteen-month benchmark.   There is nothing that you would compare, whatever calculation was to come out of the IGUA request, to what is the approved level you should have over fifteen months.  

     It should also be remembered that the company -- the whole request for the stub-period rate treatment was the result of the utility wanting to move to the same fiscal year-end - which is a calendar basis - as that of Enbridge Inc.  And, yes, my friend has identified that there has been some reporting that has been done which has included a 15-month period in the financial statements, but it should be -- it is important to note that there was no ROE calculation done in respect to the utility of a 15-month nature, and that the company will not be, in future, producing any 15-month financial return calculations, because it has now moved to the same calendar year-end fiscal-year basis as EI.  

     The whole reason why this 15-month calculation -- or these 15-month figures were included in the financial statements previously was a result of the lag period.  The idea was to provide information that made some of the numbers comparable for the same period of time.        Accordingly, Madam Chair, for the reasons of lack of usefulness, and the Board's decision of last year, we respectfully request that our objection to this Interrogatory Request be sustained.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Those are your submissions, Mr. O'Leary? 


REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DEROSE:
     MR. DEROSE:  Just very briefly, Madam Chair.  

     First of all, with respect to Number 6, my friend, Mr. O'Leary, said - and I tried to write it down – “my friend” -- “that this would be a fishing expedition.  If the two weekly reports and the memo from Mr. Schultz were produced, my friend would allege value where there is none.”

     In all fairness, I think it's the Board that should determine the value of evidence and the meaning of memos and weekly reports, not the company, and it should be produced.   And if we believe that it means white and the company believes that it means black, it's the Board that should determine that, not the company, at this stage.  

     With respect to Number 28.  Whether it would or would not be "completely irresponsible" to move $800 million of the short-term debt is a matter of argument for the hearing.  And whether this would necessitate retiring long-term debt prematurely, whether the costs would be staggering, whether this would affect the credibility of the company or the financial rating of the company, or the reputation of the company, are not reasons to deny production of the calculation.  Those are matters of argument for the hearing.  

     And with respect to the concern that any response would have to include qualifications or assumptions -- I haven't been doing this work that long, it's a few years now, but most interrogatories - or, certainly, a lot of them - will have assumptions or certain qualifications surrounding them, particularly when we get into hypotheticals, and we do do that often.  So that's not a reason to deny the production of the calculation. 

     Those are all of my responses.  Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.

     Mr. Millar, any response? 

     MR. MILLAR:  No. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose. 

      It is five minutes to eleven.  Mr. Dingwall, do you have any idea how long your submissions are going to take? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm estimating that I am going to be between 15 and 20 minutes, so if the Panel was disposed towards letting us park, briefly, this mind-gripping substance that we're dealing with for a brief break, I am sure we could accommodate that, and still have Mr. Mondrow out the door in the required time. 

     MS. NOWINA: All right.

     I think we will then take a 15-minute break, and resume at ten past eleven.  

     MR. WARREN:   Madam Chair, may be excused.  I’m just using up whatever valuable oxygen there is in the room by being here. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Indeed.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you.

     MR. DEROSE:  And if I can do a "me too" on that motion? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Certainly.  

     MR. DEROSE:  Thank you.  


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:55 a.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 11:10 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:

MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, Panel.  I have the pleasure of sitting behind Mr. Mondrow physically and also following up on many, many years of Mr. Mondrow's representation of my client previously to count upon.  So I am somewhat in his debt, if not in his line of sight.


HVAC Coalition is here with respect to three interrogatories, numbers 24, 4 and number 7, which it believes have not been sufficiently responded to.  These interrogatories relate principally to issue 9.19, which is third-party access to customer bills, including its revenue and cost impacts.  That was a hotly contested issue on motions day, and in the Board's decision on that particular issue, which placed it on the list and which was contained in Procedural Order No. 2, I quote:

"The Board notes that the long‑term implications of customer billing are a necessary consideration in this proceeding, as EGDI proposes moving into a long-term outsourcing arrangement.  The Board agrees with parties that the costs, revenues and terms and conditions of third-party billing impacts the ratepayers of EGDI, as does EGDI's relationship with its billing provider."


And it was on the basis of that statement, as well as appraising of the issue, that HVAC chose to put forward a number of interrogatories.


Out of the 30 or so that we did respond, we're only here for three, because the company was gracious enough to answer a significant number of the other interrogatories.  In those responses, we learned a number of interesting items.  We learned that Enbridge Inc. has entered into a relationship with Direct Energy in the past which contains, among other things, a non‑competition clause that extends into May of 2006, which would be part way through the test year.


The non‑competition clause is categorized as a right to exclude other parties from the bill that Direct Energy poses.  That was in an additional interrogatory response, HVAC 5.  Sorry, that might be an incorrect reference, but that was provided in an additional interrogatory response.


In IR 5, what we did learn was the current CIS would not be capable of supporting billing for any further entity without incurring the significant expense of extensive modifications, which leads us to the conclusion that the sharing of the bill for 2006 is somewhat suspect in terms of how many parties it might accommodate.


What we've also learned from the interrogatories is that Enbridge Inc. is in the process of negotiating a further arrangement of some sort with Direct Energy, which might extend for a number of future years.  In an interrogatory response, they mentioned the period of three years.


So with all of this background information, and the framing and the breadth of the issue that came from the decision on motions day, we have three outstanding interrogatories.  The first of these that I'm going to address today is number 24.  In this interrogatory, we requested ‑‑ I will read the interrogatory, and that is probably the best way to understand it:

"HVAC understands from the evidence that EGD has amended its arrangement with CWLP to involve various incentive measures, such as with respect to the collection of receivables.  Please provide the contractual references which set out how this occurs and indicate what impact this has on ABC's fees paid and the fees paid by Direct Energy to CWLP and whether Direct Energy has entered into similar enhancements."


The response that the company gave was that:

"The contractual references to the above can be found at Exhibit  "I", tab 5, schedule 127, and the company's response to CCC interrogatory 127.  There is no impact on the company's ABC fees as a result of this change."


And then the relevant part here:

"The company has no information with respect to the fees paid by Direct Energy Essential Home Services to Customer Works Limited Partnership for the services provided by CWLP to DEEHS, nor does the company know whether Direct Energy has entered into similar service enhancements with CWLP or any other service provider."


In another IR, HVAC 23, EGD indicated that the amounts collected for shared bills are allocated on a pro rata basis to the oldest receivable, meaning that there is a significant benefit to any party on the bill from enhanced collection procedures.  We simply were seeking information as to whether or not the value of that enhancement is being borne solely by the ratepayers or whether Direct Energy is also paying an enhancement fee.


It's our belief that when you've got pro rata allocation of monies received on a shared bill, that any efforts that improve the collection rates benefit any party that is sharing the bill.  So what we had sought to understand from Enbridge was whether or not that burden and that cost was being solely borne by ratepayers.  We believe that that information is pertinent in this proceeding, and we believe that that information should be provided.


The next interrogatory I would like to address is number 7.  In that interrogatory, we were seeking to have the company indicate all the services which are included in the current arrangement with Direct Energy, including how often, at what cost and what oversight mechanisms are in place to ensure that there is compliance with the OEB's codes of conduct.


The company's response to that was with respect to gas quantity charges.  It responded that effectively Direct Energy was receiving services similar to ABC services.  There was no response, however, to what services Direct Energy was receiving under what we've called the third-party access.  


Just to give a bit of background, there are currently two ways in which companies can access the Enbridge bill.  The first would be under the agent billing and collection services mechanism, whereby commodity providers have access to a single line item that indicates who they are and what their price is to customers for the provision of commodity on the bill.


The second is the billing of third‑party services, which we've referenced and which, at the time of the issues day, we did segregate to clearly include furnace rentals, hot water heater rentals, all the services that Direct Energy currently receives through its exclusive arrangement.


What the company has answered is in the context solely of the ABC agreement.  That's not what we were asking.  We were asking to give the full menu of the services that Direct Energy is accessing through the customer bill for all the balance of the services that they're providing.  The purpose of that is to understand what the capacity of the customer bill is to provide those services, how those services are framed, so that that can give further information as to what those services are, and then also the oversight mechanisms.


What the company has responded as to what its own current oversight mechanisms are, so the outstanding matters with respect to that interrogatory, are:  What are the services associated with the billing of additional non‑commodity matters on the bill?


The relevance of that to this hearing is that that would give the added depth to fill out the information needed to understand the services, terms and conditions, et cetera, that we're seeking under 9.19, the third-party access to customer bills, including revenue and cost impacts.  And we think that having a clear menu of those services is necessary in order to understand that.


The final interrogatory which is outstanding and has not been responded to adequately, in our view, is HVAC Interrogatory No. 4, where we have requested a copy of any contracts which are in place between CWLP, or any Enbridge affiliate, and Direct Energy.  And to that, the company's response was:

"Enbridge Gas Distribution is not in a position to provide copies of any contracts between CWLP and Direct Energy Essential Home Services and is unable to comply with this request.  Enbridge Gas Distribution is party to a collection services agreement with DEEHS pursuant to which DEEHS uses Enbridge Gas Distribution's agent billing and collection service on the same terms and conditions as other gas marketers."


And then they have attached a pro forma copy of the collection services agreement.  

     The collection-services agreement doesn't help us.  That's not what gives an indication of terms, conditions, prices, et cetera, associated with third-party billing services that are the subject of issue 9.19.  

     Now, I'm not sure what Mr. Mondrow or Ms. Sims or Mr.  Stevens are going to argue in response of that, whether the jurisdiction question is going to come again.  I'm not sure -- I’ll reserve any arguments in that respect to my comments in response.  But it's our view that, for there to be a full understanding and a full canvassing of the costs, implications and terms and conditions associated with third-party access, that the agreements which underpin the current arrangement are necessary.  

     Those are my principal submissions.  I will, of course, reply, given the opportunity.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. O'Leary, Mr. Stevens? 

     MR. STEVENS:  I will speaking to this.  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I might -- I'm sorry to interrupt Mr. Stevens, but before you proceed -- Mr. Dingwall addressed the jurisdiction question by saying he wouldn't address it but he might respond.  I would just like to, through the Panel, put back to Mr. Dingwall, if he does intend the jurisdiction issue to be a plank of his argument, then I’d ask that he either address it now or we’ll attempt, through the Panel, to reserve my right to respond to any arguments he might make.  Conventionally, the party seeking relief puts their grounds forward so the parties in opposition are able to respond.  If Mr. Dingwall doesn't address the jurisdiction issue until his response, the others interested will not get a chance to, in turn, respond to his arguments.  So I'm concerned about that, that suggestion on process. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:   Mr. Mondrow, it seems to me that, inherent in Mr. Dingwall's submission, is the idea that he assumes that the Board has jurisdiction, and that any party who wants to assert the idea that the Board doesn't have jurisdiction is free to do so in its reply argument to his argument in-chief.  

     He will -- I think has quite properly indicated, and fairly indicated, the idea that he would be replying to any submission with respect to jurisdiction in his reply argument.  And I think that would be the normal course, would it not? 

     MR. MONDROW:  It would, as you've described it, sir.  I guess, it may well be implied in HVAC's position that they assert that the Board has jurisdiction.  I think, as a matter of procedure, if Mr. Dingwall had said "we believe the Board has jurisdiction, I don't think I need to address the matter further", then we would be entitled to respond and he would not be permitted to raise further argument in that respect, until we raised some sort of issue relevant to the jurisdiction issue that he could not have foreseen -- which is, actually, in my submission, normally the way the parties are to discharge their respective onuses.  

     As set up, I think Mr. Dingwall has left himself wide open to address any aspects of jurisdiction if and when a responding party raises it. 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's right.  I think Mr. Dingwall, in asking the question and as framing his argument in-chief, has said in - perhaps, not in so many words, and perhaps he could clarify this - but has indicated that he believes that the Board has jurisdiction to make the order that he’s seeking.  That's inherent in his motion.  

     And I would think that his reserving the right to reply to jurisdictional arguments is fair to those who want to reply to his argument in-chief, and that he would reply, accordingly.  And that -- I would expect that would be the last right of reply.  

     MR. MONDROW:  I’d accept that, sir, with one caveat, again, from a procedural and fairness perspective, which is the right of reply is not unconstrained.  It is constrained, traditionally, to an ability to respond to issues that could not have reasonably been foreseen, and should not -- and need not have been raised by the parties seeking the relief.  

     And I’m -- so I would accept your characterization, and I am content to proceed on that basis, sir.  I'm just putting on the record that my understanding of the traditional scope of the right of reply, which is not to “bait-and-switch”; it is, rather, to address issues that should not have been anticpated by the moving party 

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I had seen -- I saw Mr. Dingwall, basically, as saying, In asking the question, we're assuming that there is jurisdiction;  if somebody wants to raise the issue, he will address those arguments. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we hear from Mr. Dingwall? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  In order to speed Mr. Mondrow's plow closer to the noon hour, I'm quite happy to confirm that I do assert that the Board has jurisdiction with respect to the granting of the relief requested.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. Stevens?


SUBMISSIONS BY MR STEVENS: 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     Having read through the IR requests that are at issue, and having heard Mr. Dingwall's submissions this morning, it seems to me that, in general, these interrogatories are directed at the disclosure of the contractual documents or arrangements that exist between CWLP and Direct Energy, in terms of whatever billing functions are undertaken by CWLP on behalf of Direct Energy.  We have resisted producing these documents, and we have two main bases for that that I’d like to highlight before talking about the specific interrogatories.  

     First, Enbridge Gas Distribution is not a party to, nor is it involved in, these contracts that are at issue.  As Mr. Mondrow stated when this issue was discussed on issues day, there is absolutely no involvement of the utility in any discussions or negotiations, as has been reflected in the record in evidence in a number of proceedings between Direct Energy and the parties that do provide Direct Energy with access to billing services, I E Enbridge Inc. and Customer Works Limited Partnership.  

     The utility is not involved in those discussions.  What the utility is involved in, and what Mr. McGill's evidence in this proceeding reflects, are discussions between the utility and Consumer Works Limited Partnership, in respect of the utility being provided with billing services by Customer Works Limited Partnership.  

     In my submission, given Enbridge Gas Distribution’s lack of involvement as a contracting party, or otherwise, with the contractual arrangements between CWLP and Direct Energy, this means that Enbridge Gas Distribution is not in a position to disclose, or to otherwise describe, the contractual arrangements between those parties.  Instead, in my respectful submission, this question is properly directed to the actual parties to the contract, Direct Energy and CWLP.  And I anticipate, based on what we're hearing now, that they may well raise procedural issues as to jurisdiction.  

     Our second submission is that, in any event, even if Enbridge Gas Distribution did have the ability or were compelled to somehow produce the requested contract, we respectfully submit that it’s not -- that contract would not be relevant to Enbridge Gas Distribution's application of approval for rates for fiscal 2006, nor even to issue 9.19 of this proceeding, as it’s framed.  

     Mr. Dingwall took you to the decision in Procedural Order No. 2, where the Board decided that issue 9.19 ought to be on the issues list, an Mr. Dingwall took you to the two notes that the Board made in respect of this issue.  

     First, the Board stated that the long-term implications of customer billing are a necessary consideration in this proceeding, as EGDI proposes moving into a long-term outsourcing arrangement.  In my submission, I would respectfully suggest that this comment ought to apply to future consumer -- customer-billing arrangements for EGDI under the proposed new CIS system, as opposed to current arrangements between a third party, CWLP, and a fourth party, Direct Energy, which may, on the record, expire as early as December, 2005.  That's not an issue in terms of the future arrangements for this 12-year, three-month CIS project that we propose to enter into.  

     Moreover, as both the company and HVAC have previously stated, in our submission, following from the HVAC decision - which I believe is the 0058 decision - billing is not seen as a utility service, because it's not a service provided by a utility for which a regulated rate charge or rate range has been approved by the Board.  

Thus, in our submission, the only focus of this Panel ought to be upon the impact of the billing services on EGDI and on the utility's ratepayers.  It ought not to be on the activities of the non‑regulated billing service provider when it deals with what I've termed to be fourth parties.


The second note that the Board made when putting Issue 1.19 on the issues list was that the Board agrees with the parties that the costs, revenues and terms and conditions of third-party billing impacts the ratepayers of EGDI, as does EGDI's relationship with its billing provider.


In my respectful submission, again, I would suggest that this makes clear that what's relevant in this proceeding is EGDI's own involvement with Customer Works Limited Partnership.  This is consistent with the notion that the billing service is being provided by a non‑regulated utility, and what the Board is interested in or ought to be interested in is the impact on the regulated utility and its ratepayers.


In my submission, the relevance of Direct Energy's relationship with CWLP ought to be limited to the benefits that EGDI ratepayers derive from that relationship.  And if I could draw your attention to the answer to HVAC Undertaking No. 15, it sets out the benefits of the relationship to -- that EGDI ratepayers receive.  And what it says is that under the client services agreement between Customer Works and Enbridge Gas distribution, the company has a unit bill production cost of 77 cents per bill if the bill is for Enbridge distribution only.  


In the case of a shared bill, however, the company's cost is 35 cents a bill.  So each time the company is dealing in an instance of a shared bill, the services from Customer Works costs the company less, ultimately costs ratepayers less, and that's a fall-out from the contract specifically between Customer Works and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  It's got nothing to do with any contract that may exist between Customer Works and Direct Energy.


The final line of the response to HVAC Interrogatory No. 15, it states that if the company were not able to share bills in the test year, then it would lose revenues in the range of $4.6 million.  And I believe this is where the discussion on issues day around the $5 million forecast benefit to having Direct Energy on the bill in the future comes from.  


Just to recap, it comes directly from the contractual relations between the company and Customer Works.  It has nothing to do with any contractual arrangements which may exist between Direct Energy and Customer Works.


With that backdrop, I have some brief submissions about each of the interrogatories that are at issue that Mr. Dingwall took you to.  I will do them in the order that Mr. Dingwall went through them.


Starting with number 24, as Mr. Dingwall noted, this is a question related to the changes in the arrangements that Enbridge Gas Distribution has with Customer Works to provide incentive measures.  And Mr. Dingwall seems to want to know whether Direct Energy is also paying what he termed, I believe, an enhancement fee, and he tied this somehow with the pro rata collection procedures.


I have two points to make about this.  The first is that the company is not aware of whether Direct Energy entered into similar arrangements with Customer Works.  Those would be separate negotiations and a separate contract that would not involve the company at all.  


It could be seen, if you looked at the answer to CCC 127, which attaches the company's own amending agreement with Customer Works where this enhancement is worked out, there is no cross‑reference anywhere in there to Direct Energy.  It's a stand‑alone document.  It has to do with the company's own dealings and own customers.


But I think maybe also there is a fundamental misunderstanding.  The idea of these enhancements is that they're going to benefit ratepayers.  There is no cost to ratepayers.  It's meant to lower the costs which Customer Works is ultimately charging to the company, which are passed through to ratepayers.  So there is no issue of sharing costs with Direct Energy, because there is no cost to be paid.


The customers, in fact, aren't paying for any enhancements under Enbridge Gas Distribution's amending agreement with Customer Works.


Mr. Dingwall then took us to Interrogatory No. 7, and it seems that Mr. Dingwall is satisfied with whatever issue might have existed about codes of conduct.  We're not aware, to be fair, what codes of conduct he is referring to, but it seems that what remains as the nub of the issue here is -- the way I wrote it down is:  What services is Direct Energy getting under third‑party access?  I think it was also phrased as:  What services is Direct Energy receiving that are associated with non‑commodity matters on the bill?


Simply stated, as I stated before, the company doesn't know.  Those are arrangements directly between Customer Works and Direct Energy.


Finally, when Mr. Dingwall spoke about Interrogatory No. 4, I believe what he stated is that, if I re-use the word, "the nub" of what he is looking for there is the terms and conditions of third-party billing services provided to Direct Energy.  And for that, my answer is, again, the same.  


I'm sorry to keep repeating myself, but I don't think there is really a fundamental difference between what is being asked in these two questions.  The company is not party to the billing arrangements, the billing contract, the revenue arrangements, any of those things that exist between Customer Works and Direct Energy, and so we can't give that answer.


Subject to my ‑‑ your questions, those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Just for my own clarification, Mr. Stevens.  So the contract that EGDI has with Customer Works is simply to allow sharing of the bill or to ‑‑ for your sharing the bill with someone else?  Customer Works enters into contracts with parties to share that bill; is that correct?


MR. STEVENS:  I believe that the contracts between Enbridge Gas distribution and Customer Works relate to the specific services that are being provided by Customer Works to Enbridge Gas distribution.


There's some suggestion in the interrogatories that ‑‑ I'm sorry, I will look...

     There is an arrangement, not a contract but an arrangement, as between Enbridge Inc. and Customer Works under which Direct Energy has access ‑‑ has the ability to work with Customer Works and use the Enbridge bill, but that's not with Enbridge Gas Distribution.


MR. DINGWALL:  I have a couple of comments just to clarify that and add some more detail to the question that you asked of Mr. Stevens, if that is appropriate.


MS. NOWINA:   Fine, Mr. Dingwall.  Go ahead.


MR. DINGWALL:  You had asked whether or not the sharing of the bill was between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Customer Works, and, just to be clear, there are two methodologies under which the bill is shared.


The first of those methodologies is the exclusive arrangement that Direct Energy has with, as I understand it, Enbridge Inc. and Customer Works LP, but there is no contractual relationship put forward in the evidence between Direct Energy and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


And the second methodology under which the bill is shared is for the commodity end of the business under which there are direct contracts between natural gas marketers and Enbridge Gas Distribution to share the bill.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Stevens, anything further?

     MR. STEVENS:  Sorry for that.  What has just been confirmed to me is that Enbridge Gas Distribution does not have anything to do with the access to the bill.  Where Enbridge Gas Distribution benefits is, any party that shares its bill, that results in a reduction in the bill production cost.  Whether it’s Direct Energy, whether it is another party. Every time the bill is shared, the company saves money on the production of that bill.  And that amounts to something in the order of $4.6 million in the test year.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you for that clarification.  Mr. Mondrow?  

     MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     I'm just going it pick up first on this issue, because I think it is important.  And folks who don't deal with it every day, I think, you know, need to understand the context.  

     Customer Works Limited Partnership is in the middle of this discussion.  Direct Energy and Customer Works Limited Partnership have a billing and customer-care services agreement which Direct Energy inherited when it acquired the Enbridge Services Inc. business from Enbridge Inc., which is the parent of the regulated distributor which you’re here to regulate.  

     The agreement was, essentially, that Direct Energy would, for a period of time, be able to continue to have its non-commodity services included on the Enbridge Inc. billing sheet, together with the Enbridge Gas Distribution charges, in the same fashion as the Enbridge Services business had enjoyed that access prior to Direct Energy's acquisition -- actually, Direct Energy's parent’s acquisition of the Enbridge Services company.  

     So where would we stand today is, Direct Energy has a billing and services contractual relationship with Customer Works Limited Partnership.   BC Gas has a billing and customer-care services contractual relationship with Customer Works Limited Partnership.  And Enbridge Gas Distribution has a billing and customer-care contractual services contract relationship with Customer Works Limited Partnership.  So CWLP is in the middle.  Direct Energy has an agreement with them, B C Gas has an agreement with them and the utility which you're regulating has an agreement with them.  

     The bill that Direct Energy's non-commodity charges appear on is an Enbridge Inc. bill.  Direct Energy and Enbridge Inc., as part of the purchase agreement, agreed to a license from Enbridge Inc., essentially, allowing Direct Energy to be on that bill in respect of its non-commodity services.  And Enbridge Inc. has provided Customer Works Limited Partnership with permission to -- in the course of providing its services to Direct Energy, to utilize that Enbridge Inc. billing sheet, which the utility charges and the Direct Energy charges currently both sit on.   That's the structure.  

     I hope that is clear.  I'm happy to respond to any further questions, if there are any.  

     The request before you from HVAC coalition, essentially, is for contractual and financial information related to the contractual relationship as between Direct Energy and Customer Works Limited Partnership.  And I have four basic submissions in respect of that request.  

     The first is that there is no direct relevance to Enbridge Gas Distribution customer-care costs of Direct Energy's relationship with CWLP.  

     The second is that, while there may be an indirect relationship, given the spreading by CWLP of the fixed costs associated with providing those services among two parties -- actually three parties, Enbridge, the utility B C Gas and D E, rather than one, to the extent that that has indirect relevance, the information relevant to this Board's review of the ratepayer billing costs has already been dealt with in another way, which I'm going to come to.  

     So the indirect relevance has already been tied off in a commercially less-intrusive fashion: essentially, the segregated statements from the affiliates that this Board has, in the past, requested, and, as I understand it, are being provided in this proceeding, as well.  And I’ll come back to that to clarify that 

     The third basic point is that there is a significant potential for commercial prejudice to Direct Energy, to have its customer-care agreements with CWLP laid before the world and its competitors.  

     And the fourth is, to the extent it needs clarification, that this Board has no jurisdiction over arrangements between CWLP, or any other Enbridge Gas Distribution affiliate, and Direct Energy, or any other third party, per se.  This Board's jurisdiction is confined to the extent to which those external arrangements might or might not impact the costs passed on to the ratepayer by the utility.  And I’ll come back to each of those four points, briefly.  

     So my first point was there is no direct relevance to Enbridge Gas Distribution customer-care costs of the contractual and financial arrangements which HVAC -- in respect of which HVAC seeks information.  The Board's enquiry in this proceeding is properly limited to whether Enbridge Gas Distribution's customer-care costs are fair, reasonable and, if I can coin a term, “optimized” for ratepayers, through steps taken by Enbridge Gas Distribution, the utility, or not.  That's what the Board has to concern itself with.  

     My second point is that, particularly given the financial disclosure from CWLP regarding the utility portions of CWLP's costs and revenues, any indirect relevance that the contractual and financial information between CWLP and Direct Energy that HVAC is asking for has already been captured and there is no incremental probative value to the enquiry at hand in respect of the contractual and commercial relationships between CWLP and Direct Energy.  And that's because the Board's primary direction in an earlier proceeding -- some of the text of which is captured in CCC 192 - so that's Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192, in this case, specifically, at part 2 of the response - has already dealt with this issue in its item number five in the response. 

     In the Board's RP 2002-0133 decision - colloquially, I think, referred to as “the out-sourcing decision” - when all of these out-sourcing arrangements were picked up and exhaustively dealt with, the Board directed at the end of the day that it would have been more comfortable, and would be more comfortable, had EGD tendered these sorts of out-sourcing arrangements.  And if the Board was satisfied as to the veracity of the tendering process, you could rely on the results to conclude that ratepayers were being fairly, reasonably and optimally charged for the services provided to them from the utility.  

     The utility has, essentially, not done the sort of tendering, at least, that the Board had in mind, which, I presume, would be to multiple, potential service providers.  It speaks of another sort of tendering process, in its evidence in this case.  But the Board recognized that the utility might not, in fact, follow that fairly soft -- fairly subtle advice 

     And so what the Board said, and this starts at paragraph 534 of that RP 2002-0133 decision, essentially, is that, if the Board can't be satisfied, through simply looking at a tendering process, that ratepayers have been adequately protected, it will require the relevant affiliates to provide segmented financial statements, in which those affiliates segmented the financial information that was relevant to the services and relationships that those affiliates have with the utility.  So that the Board and intervenors could be satisfied that the cost basis for the services being procured by the utility were adequately reflected in the ultimate prices that the utility paid those service providers on behalf of ratepayers. 

     Because what the Board essentially concluded is that, If we're not satisfied that these services have been subject to the discipline of a competitive market, we will have to look at the cost base for the services and limit rates to delivery ratepayers to -- in respect to those services to a cost-based approximation of what those ratepayers should reasonably be asked to pay for these services, that they obtain from the utility.  

     And so the Board asked and indicated that it would require the affiliates to provide these segmented statements, so the Board can isolate the costs underlying the services, and make a determination as to whether the utility was paying a fair fee to get those services, relative to their costs.  Because if the utility didn't do a broader tender, the competitive market wouldn't sort that out by itself.  

My understanding is that in this proceeding information has been provided as to the segmented financial statements of the affiliates, to the extent that the affiliates' financial costs and revenues address or are related to the services procured from those affiliates by the utility.


And so when HVAC asks for more information, which treads into very sensitive commercial ground, that is information that is personal, to stretch a word, between Direct Energy and Customer Works, it is seeking to get at indirect information that this Board has already provided a commercially-balanced mechanism for accessing, and that mechanism is to ask for those segmented financial statements from those affiliates.


So my first point is there is no direct relevance to what ratepayers pay.  My second point is that indirect relevance has been dealt with in a more commercially‑balanced approach.  


My third point is really related to the second.  When looking at the commercial balance, it must be recognized that what HVAC is asking is that our agreements, Direct Energy's agreements, with Customer Works Limited Partnership be filed on the public record.  I have a lot of trouble acceding to the -- or envisioning that if Customer Works Limited Partnership were not an affiliate, but were, rather, let's say Visa, that HVAC Coalition could come to this Board and ask that Direct Energy's agreements with Visa, just because the utility might have an agreement with Visa, be laid before the world.  I doubt very much we would be having this discussion.


The submission I just made in respect of the Board's commercially‑balanced approach to getting at this affiliate cost information, the Board has already determined a way to deal with the affiliate nexus, which wouldn't exist in my scenario, other than requiring that that affiliate produce all contracts that it has entered into with parties other than the utility and lay them before the world.  


I note HVAC hasn't asked for the BC Gas contracts.  So, you know, one might wonder how much they're focussed on the questions they put to you.  But, in any event, the question is -- the interrogatory is as it is.


My fourth point is that the Board's jurisdiction and enquiry, as I think I said at the outset, does not extend to arrangements between CWLP or any other EGD affiliate, and Direct Energy or any other third party, per se.  The Board's jurisdiction is constrained to determining whether those other arrangements have implications, from the utility perspective, for ratepayers.


As I've said now a couple of times, the Board has already addressed, in a less commercially-intrusive manner, any implications of the fact that Customer Works Limited Partnership provides services to other third parties, including Direct Energy.  


 Now, I would like, very briefly, to deal with some of the comments made by Mr. Dingwall in his submissions.  One of the first things Mr. Dingwall said is he took you back to issue 9.19 and highlighted that at issues day, the Panel determined that the enquiry would include the terms and conditions of third-party billing.


I don't think Mr. Dingwall highlighted the concluding phrase, however, which is "as these impact ratepayers".  And it may seem like an obvious point, but my submission has focussed largely on what the Board should be figuring out here, and obviously the question is whether it needs these other third parties to be laid bare in order to get at that, and my submission is it doesn't.  It has already figured out another way to do that that's a more balanced approach.  


 Then dealing with each of the interrogatories that HVAC has put before you for further consideration, again, in the order that Mr. Dingwall addressed them.  In respect of HVAC No. 24, Mr. Dingwall advised that HVAC is seeking to understand whether the collection enhancement costs spoken of are being borne exclusively by ratepayers.  


Actually, what the interrogatory asked about were the ABC fees, whether there has been any impact on the ABC fees, which has nothing to do with what ratepayers bear.  The answer in the interrogatory response was "no".  


Today Mr. Dingwall asked a slightly different question and Mr. Stevens provided an answer, which is, no, the ratepayers are not bearing any additional costs.  That should be the end of the enquiry from the Board's perspective, in my respectful submission.  


The next interrogatory that Mr. Dingwall has put before you on behalf of his client, he explains as number 7, is seeking information on the full menu of services provided by Customer Works Limited Partnership to Direct Energy in order to understand the scope of the services that might be available to ratepayers through the utility in the future.


First of all, these are Customer Works Limited Partnership services, not services provided by the utility.  But, more importantly, if that's the question that HVAC wants answered, what scope of services might be available to ratepayers through the utility in the future, then they should ask that.  They haven't asked that.  They have asked for copies of contracts.  So one wonders whether that is really the question they are seeking a response to.


In respect of the reference to the code oversight, Mr. Stevens has concluded that on behalf of his clients, Mr. Dingwall is satisfied there are no code issues engaged.  I must say I am not as comforted, based on Mr. Dingwall's submissions, but I can't, for the life of me, figure out what codes might be relevant to oversight by this Board of the relationship between CWLP and Direct Energy.  There are none as far, as I can determine.


So if that is an issue, I would invite my friend to articulate that a little more precisely so the Board can consider it.  


Finally, in respect of HVAC Interrogatory No. 4, which is a request for copies of any contracts in place between CWLP or any Enbridge affiliate and Direct Energy, Mr. Dingwall explained that what HVAC Coalition would like to achieve through a better response to this interrogatory is a full canvassing of the cost implications, which Mr. Dingwall submits is required for the Board to assess the billing issues, the utility billing services issues at play in this proceeding, and for that HVAC Coalition and the Board require disclosure of all the agreements.


 My submission in response is, no, that is not right.  The Board has already determined how it's going to get at the cost base for the service provider to the utility.  It's going to require segmented financial information.  It doesn't need to get all the contracts that CWLP might have with any other third party in order to go through them and lay them bare to the world, and then satisfy itself.  


There is a regulatory process for that which respects commercial sensitivity, and that's the process the Board should stick to.


Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Ms. Sims, do you wish --


SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SIMS:

MS. SIMS:  Madam Chair, I will try not to cover ground that's been covered by my colleagues, and I do adopt the submissions of Mr. Stevens and Mr. Mondrow.


There are -- and, in particular, I adopt Mr. Mondrow's submissions with respect to relevancy, and so I won't cover that ground again.  


One issue for Customer Works in this matter is whether the Board has jurisdiction to order productions of these materials from it.


It is a non‑party to this proceeding, and, unlike the decision in RP-2002‑133, which dealt with production of documents between Customer Works and EGD, these are documents between two non‑parties.  It's our submission that the Board does not have jurisdiction to compel the pre-hearing disclosure and documents from non‑parties, especially when it is related to arrangements between two non‑parties.


Part 3 of the Act and, in particular, section 36, vests the Board with rate-making power in respect to the sale, transmission, distribution and storage of natural gas.  This jurisdiction of the Board extends to regulated entities and, to the extent expressly provided in the Act, to affiliates.  The only statutory authority related to an affiliate is section 44, which allows the Board to make rules requiring an affiliate to make certain returns directly relevant to that mandate.


The rules respecting pre-hearing procedures in the Board of practice and with respect to interrogatories deal with interrogatories being addressed to a party.  Rule 28 provides for interrogatories specifically, and specifically sets out that interrogatories shall be directed to the party from who the response is sought.


Rule 29 provides for responses to interrogatories and provides that the party shall do the answer -- answer the interrogatory, and provides for sanctions if the party is unwilling or unable to answer the interrogatory.  


It's my submission that the Rules of Practice and Procedure provides for seeking to compel information from non‑party witnesses only at a hearing stage and not through the pre-hearing procedures.  This distinction is important, since the non‑party will be provided with the protections of the hearing process and not be subjected to what, in my submission, is in this case requests for irrelevant information which does not go to the heart of the issue in the rate application.


As a non‑party, CWLP strenuously resists disclosure of its confidential business information with respect to its dealings with its customers and between itself and Direct Energy, which is not the subject of this hearing. 

      And my final point simply deals with the issue of confidentiality.  Unfortunately, Customer Works was only provided with this motion material yesterday afternoon, so we have certainly not had the opportunity to review the documents, which could, potentially, be at issue.  And if there is any order with respect to production, then we would like to reserve our right to come back and address the issue of confidentiality, and whether confidentiality can be addressed under the practice directions and rules of procedure of the Board.  

     And those are my submissions.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Millar do you have any submissions? 

     MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall?  In reply

     MR. WILLIAMS:  Madam Chair, if I might intercede?  I’d like to make some supporting submissions on behalf of Mr. Dingwall's earlier submissions.  I haven’t had the opportunity --

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, Mr. Williams.  Go ahead.


SUBMISSIONS BY MR. WILLIAMS: 

     MR. WILLIAMS:  I'm actually representing -- I’d like to clear up one point.  The submissions that we were supposed to make earlier on for TransCanada Pipelines have, obviously, been resolved with their resolution with Enbridge.  I'm only going to speak on behalf of Superior, in support of the position adopted by HVAC today.  

     As Mr. Dingwall raised in his submissions, this issue has been specifically raised at the issues day, and the Board has expressly included it within this proceeding under 9.1.9.  And, in keeping with that decision of the Board, we believe that a proper hearing of the issue can only be undertaken -- and will be considerably impeded without access to those agreements, and may have significant impact upon it.  

     If I may just refer, briefly, to Mr. Warren's submissions earlier on, in a separate motion.  The issues of confidentiality and relevance have been raised today with regards to this motion, and I think that it is appropriate for the Board to determine the confidential procedures that it already has.  And, again, with the relevance, that relevance is an issue for the Board to decide.   It is not an issue for the individual parties to decide.  

     To fully understand the full spectrum of the issue in question, I believe it is vital, and I submit that it is vital, that all documents pertaining to the issue, both inside and outside of EGD, that may impact upon the rates, must be available to adequately understand and argue this matter.  

     I would just like to raise that, with regards to understanding the impact on rates, the provision of pure financial statements may show how the rates are impacted in a beneficial way.  However, what they may not show are the detrimental -- potential detrimental consequences that such contractual provisions, that we're not party to at the moment, may also have, in the reverse.  So understanding the entirety of how the contractual provisions may impact upon those rates requires a more thorough understanding and deeper understanding of how those contractual provisions may relate to that.  

     So, as I said, Superior essentially adopts the position of HVAC in this motion, and thinks that the Board, to fully understand how the rates are impacted, and how customers may benefit, or not benefit, from these contractual relationships -- it is necessary to have, at least at the Board's level, a chance to look at those contracts that may relate to that. 

     Thank you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

     We probably should have heard that after we heard Mr. Dingwall -- 

     MR. WILLIAMS:  I agree.  I --

     MS. NOWINA:   -- and the parties, and I apologize for not catching that.  

     I will give the other parties, Mr. Stevens, Mr. Mondrow and Ms. Sims an opportunity, if they want to confer --  

     FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. STEVENS:
     MR. STEVENS:  Just one brief comment, Madam Chair.  

     I would submit this is a somewhat different situation than Mr. Warren was talking about this morning, in terms of putting a document forward and then looking at it and deciding upon its relevance.  It seems to me that we all know what we're talking about already, in terms of -- this is a contract between two parties that will set out the terms and conditions of billing between Customer Works and Direct Energy.  It will set out the fees and revenues associated with it.   So, in my submission, the relevance decision can be made without looking at it, and that ought not to be a crutch upon which disclosure is ordered, so that we can see the document and then decide whether it is relevant.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Mondrow?

     FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MR. MONDROW:
     MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

     One quick comment.  My friend seems to be inviting the Panel, and the Board, to embark upon an enquiry as to whether Enbridge Gas Distribution's billing- and collection-services agreement could be better than it is.  

     That's not the Board's place.  The Board's place isn't to negotiate agreements between the utility and any service providers.  The Board's place is to determine whether the agreement puts the utility in a position under which its rates, as applied for, are prudent and reasonable.  The Board should not substitute, or be asked to substitute, its own commercial judgment.  It should stand back and review whether the arrangements present a prudent and reasonable approach to contracting for services on behalf of the utility and its ratepayers.  

     It's not for the Board to open up all potential contracts it could possibly ask for, and direct the utility as to how to renegotiate those to get a better deal.  That's the enquiry I think my friend has just asked the Board to embark on, and, in our submission, that would be be inappropriate.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Sims?   

     FURTHER SUBMISSIONS BY MS. SIMS:
     MS. SIMS:   And just briefly, in terms of the detriment that my friend referred to.   The -- obviously, the agreement between Customer Works and Direct Energy can’t impose any obligations on the applicant.  The obligations on the applicant are disclosed in the agreements between Customer Works and the applicant, and those have been the subject of prior -- of these prior undertakings in this proceeding -- or interrogatories in these proceeding.  So that there is nothing in the Direct Energy Customer Works agreement that can impose an obligation on the applicant, which could be a detriment.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     Mr. Dingwall?

     REPLY SUBMISSIONS BY MR. DINGWALL:
     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     I'm going to begin with the old chestnut, the jurisdiction argument.  

     In the past couple of years, this issue has been floating around out there, as has something else called the “gas direct” -- pardon “the gas distribution access rule”, known by so many as the -- under the acronym GDAR.  What it really says has been long forgotten.   

     One of the elements of GDAR, which was a rule put forward by the Board, adopted by the Board, and which is being implemented by the Board -- one element of it was the options put forward with respect to billing.   One of these options is distributor-consolidated billing, whereby the gas distributor would bill on behalf of itself and on behalf of commodity providers.  

     An additional aspect of the GDAR was what's known as “retailer-“ or “vendor-consolidated billing”, whereby vendors, being gas commodity providers, natural gas marketers, would have the opportunity to bill not only for their own charges, directly, to customers, but also for the utility charges under a consolidated bill.  

     There is nothing in GDAR that says it's not binding if the utility chooses to out-source its billing, or if the utility's shareholder says it owns the billing, or if any number of other scenarios apply.  

     The GDAR was appealed.  It was appealed again, and appealed again.  And, finally, all appeals of GDAR have been abandoned.  It seems quite clear, at this point, that the Board does have the jurisdiction to make rules and to make orders with respect to the bill that is rendered by or on behalf of natural gas distributors in the province.  

     In addition, the Board, under the Ontario Energy Board Act, has a number of objectives that go beyond the rate-making objectives.   And the first of these I’d like to mention is under section 2(1) of the Ontario Energy Board Act, which is --

“S. 2(1) ... that the Board, in carrying out its responsibilities under this or any other act in relation to gas, shall be guided by the following objectives,”

the first of which is “to facilitate competition in the sale of gas to users.”  

     Now what we have is a situation in this province where Enbridge Gas Distribution has an agency billing and collection service which is open to natural gas marketers on a non-discriminatory basis, where they each pay an identical amount for the service.  It's analogous to a tariff service, although there is some niceties that don't quite describe it in that fashion.  

     But what we’ve also got is an historical anomaly, which is an arrangement whereby the utility bill has been contracted by its shareholder on an exclusive, preclusive basis, to one party, under an agreement which is expiring, or so the evidence states, December 31st of 2005.  Unfortunately, the exclusivity period doesn't expire with that.  That's a separate agreement.  We don't know where it exists, what it says.  We've been told by the applicant that they've been told that the exclusivity agreement and ‑‑ which is also termed non‑competition or a right to exclude, doesn't expire until May 2006.  


So somehow Enbridge's shareholder is precluded from allowing other parties onto the bill before May 2006.  Is that binding on the utility?  I don't know.  Is it binding on the shareholder, subject to regulatory oversight?  I don't know.  Is there a regulatory oversight clause within that agreement that says this is not binding if a regulator deems it to be not binding?  I don't know.  The agreement is not before us.


At the end of the day, what this issue means is:  Who does control the bills?  Who gains its benefits and burdens?  Is it the shareholder or is it the regulated entity?  And with respect to the Board's involvement in this process, how can the Board, in good conscience, continue to address its burden of facilitating competition in a circumstance where there appears to be a tendency on the part of the utility shareholder to contract for some form of exclusive arrangement in a fashion which precludes other market participants from having similar access to the utility bill, which this Board regulates?


Now I would like to address some of the specific comments that were made by some of the other parties.  Mr. Stevens raised HVAC Interrogatory No. 15 as a suggestion that the Enbridge bill somehow benefits ratepayers through the sharing mechanism, in that there is one fee for the preparation of a bill where the bill is not shared and a lesser fee for the preparation of the bill when the bill is shared.


What that kind of begs is, Well, what is the actual cost of preparing a bill that is shared?  Does the reduction in fees reflect that?  What's Direct Energy paying for it?  Are ratepayers, through this non arm's-length contractual negotiation, between Enbridge Gas Distribution and its affiliate, receiving what the actual benefit should have been?  Would they receive that going forward?  Is it appropriate that there be any sharing going forward?


If anything, the suggestion that there are benefits, when there is no desire to quantify the benefits or go deeper in terms of showing how those benefits are calculated and whether or not the agreements are arm's‑length between all the parties, really shows how one side of the presentation is of this whole relationship.


With respect to HVAC Interrogatory No. 24, one item of clarification is that Mr. Mondrow suggested that I was trying to broaden the scope of that interrogatory.  I would like to be very clear.  In the information that we were seeking, we asked a couple of different questions:  First, indicate what impact this has on ABC fees paid, to which the company answered:  No impact.  And then, through the magical use of a comma, a second thought was expressed:  And the fees paid by Direct Energy to CWLP.  Those are clearly not ABC fees paid.


ABC fees are between natural gas marketers and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  So I was not trying to broaden that interrogatory by raising that today.  It is clearly stated within that interrogatory.


The next element that I would like to respond to is Mr. Mondrow's wondering over whether or not there is actually any form of code of conduct that applies to this whole situation.  I'm somewhat surprised by his answer that he can't think of one.


Clearly Direct Energy, to the best of my knowledge, is registered and licensed as a natural gas marketer.  There is a natural gas marketer code of conduct, which requires that certain adherences in communication is made to customers.  As the Enbridge bill is a communication that goes with customers, it seems clear that Enbridge found it necessary for Enbridge Gas Distribution to have some form of review and approval of whatever messages or inserts Direct Energy were putting in the bill package, and it's in one of the interrogatory responses that they do that.


So there are codes of conduct that apply.  This relationship seems to be one that has the potential to blur those codes, and hopefully that can be clarified as part of what we do with this issue going forward.


Mr. Mondrow also suggested that we had not asked for information on the BC Gas contracts and that our focus seemed a little bit narrow, but I would like to inform Mr. Mondrow that BC Gas is now called Tarrison, and there were about three or four interrogatories that we posed with respect to whether or not Tarrison was continuing to use the same CIS.  And in response to those interrogatories, Enbridge told us that they were not.  So we did not make further enquiries of what Tarrison's billing arrangements were, because they're using a different system.


Now, with respect to the information that we're seeking, both Mr. Mondrow and Ms. Sims have made reference to the whole question of confidentiality and business sensitivity.  I find that that flies in the face of the whole question of non‑discriminatory access to a utility bill.  


I would think that if Mr. Mondrow were being told by Enbridge that for him to have access to the information as to what other gas marketers are paying for the ABC service, his response would be:  But everybody should know that.  It's the same service.  We should be paying the same rate.  It's the same service.  


And it's our view that this is not business-sensitive information.  This is information that should lead to and that Enbridge clearly, from its evidence, appears to be leading to a tariffed form of access or a quasi tariffed form of access to the utility bill, if all parties can be accommodated.


If they can't be accommodated, then we'll have to address that, but in order for the process to begin, the information as to what the costs are, what's being paid and how that is reflected, and what the terms and conditions are, are things that are necessary.  I can understand that there might be some initial degree of confidentiality, but it will really depend on the documents and their substance as to how that flows and whether there are aspects of the documents that are confidential and whether there are not.  We're not at that stage yet, because we don't have anything.


So, in conclusion, we believe that not just for the competition aspects of this issue, but also for the aspects of determining what the real costs are and the real benefits and what the value to everybody, including ratepayers, must be, that it is necessary for us to have the responses to the interrogatories that we have requested.  


Those are my submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.


QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Dingwall, Ms. Sims indicated that in her view there was a material distinction between a request for this information prior to hearing and during the course of the hearing.  I think I've got that right, Ms. Sims.  What is your reaction?  What's your response to that?


MR. DINGWALL:  I'm not sure what, if anything, the differing of the time frames would provide.  I mean, in order to make the hearing fruitful and in order to provide the full benefit of the hearing, which is giving all parties the opportunity to address things as best they can, the sooner the information is provided the better.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Millar, are you aware of any of the matters we should be discussing?


MR. MILLAR:  No, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. STEVENS:  Madam Chair, if I may, I had one final matter to raise.  It is in respect of Interrogatory CCC 192, which I believe we talked briefly about this morning.


One point that wasn't made clear is that, as part of that interrogatory, a substantial number of contracts and documents are being disclosed on a confidential basis.  It was an interrogatory addressed to CCC, and I believe Mr. Warren indicated that he was satisfied with the response, which clearly indicated these things were being filed confidentially.


Just for your information, it is consistent with the approach that was taken in the 2002‑0133 case, but I just wanted to confirm to the Board that those documents are being filed, provided to the intervenors on a confidential basis, and that certainly the company's expectation is that the parties will deal with them on that basis and would only depart from that by bringing a motion on notice to everybody.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.


MR. STEVENS:  As would be the case with any other documents identified as confidential through the interrogatory process.


MS. NOWINA:  I believe that concludes our proceeding for today.  The Panel will attempt to get a decision and order out as soon as possible, I think fairly quickly.  Thank you very much for your time.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 12:25 p.m.
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